IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CHARLES M. KIGHT,

Appellant,

vs.

Appeal Docket No. 75,749

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT DUVAL COUNTY, FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

WM. J. SHEPPARD ELIZABETH L. WHITE COURTNEY JOHNSON

SHEPPARD AND WHITE, P.A. 215 Washington Street Jacksonville, Florida 32202 (904) 356-9661

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Appellant, Charles Michael Kight, will be referred to in this brief as "appellant" or "Mr. Kight". Appellee, the State of Florida will be referred to as "appellee", "the State", or "the prosecution". References to the pleadings contained in this Record on Appeal will be designated as "R", followed by the appropriate page number(s), set forth in brackets (Example: [R. 1]). References to the transcripts of pre-trial, trial, sentencing and post-trial proceedings in this case will be referred to as "Tr.", followed by the appropriate page number(s), set forth in brackets (Example: [Tr. 1]).

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS AND THE CASE

On December 7, 1982, Lawrence Butler, a taxi-cab driver was reported missing, having last been seen the day before. Seven days later, his body was found in a remote area of north Jacksonville by an individual riding his motorcycle in the wooded area [Tr. 1672-1763, 1771]. The apparent cause of Mr. Butler's death was multiple stab wounds to the upper region of his body [Tr. 1827].

Mr. Butler's cab subsequently was found in the St. Johns River [Tr. 1938]. An investigation into Mr. Butler's death was commenced by Detective Charles Kesinger of the Jacksonville Sheriff's Office [Tr. 1776-1783].

During the early evening hours, of December 7, 1982, appellant and his co-defendant were arrested for the armed robbery of Herman McGoogin on that date. [Tr. 2142-2143, 2153-2154]. Their arrest was the result of Mr. McGoogin identifying Mr. Hutto and Mr. Kight as the individuals who had robbed him at knifepoint, after he had picked them up as a fare in his taxi-cab [Tr. 2127-2129]. That evening Mr. Hutto made a statement inculpating Mr. Kight in the McGoogin robbery [Tr. 668-696]. Mr. Kight declined to be interrogated [Tr. 401].

The following day, the Office of the Public Defender was appointed to represent both men on the McGoogin robbery charge [Tr. 684]. Both men remained incarcerated at the Duval County Jail. Upon the discovery of Mr. Butler's body, suspicion focused upon appellant and Mr. Hutto as the perpetrators of that crime. Appellant was interrogated twice. On the second occasion,

Detective Ross Weeks went to the Duval County Jail for the stated reason of obtaining Mr. Kight's clothing for blood analysis.

During the course of seizing Mr. Kight's clothing, Detective Weeks obtained an oral statement from Mr Kight, wherein Mr. Kight admitted his presence during the murder and incriminated Mr. Hutto [Tr. 526]. That statement was reduced to writing by Detective Kesinger, because Mr. Kight was unable to read and write, and signed by Mr. Kight [Tr. 583-587, 1906]. Both men were thereupon arrested for first degree murder [R. 1-2]. An indictment charging Mr. Hutto and Mr. Kight with first degree murder was returned on January 6, 1983 [R. 13].

Upon discovery of Mr. Kight's statement the Office of the Public Defender moved to withdraw as Mr. Kight's counsel, citing Mr. Kight's statement as the reason [R. 5].

Lengthy pretrial proceedings ensued \(\frac{1}{2}\) As the result of a motion filed by Mr. Kight's counsel, the Public Defender's Office was eventually disqualified from the representation of Mr. Hutto and substitute counsel was appointed [Tr. 929]. Subsequent to the appointment of substitute counsel, Mr. Hutto entered a plea of guilty to second degree murder, which required counsel for Mr. Hutto to disclose to the State the names of jailhouse informants, obtained by the Public Defender's Office, to whom Mr. Kight had allegedly confessed the slaying [R. 487]. A motion to exclude

 $[\]frac{1}{2}$ Due to the complex nature of many issues raised in the pretrial and trial proceedings, specific facts relevant to the resolution of the various issues raised will be discussed within the context of each argument presented. Those facts will not be repeated here.

the testimony of these witness due to this conflict of interest was denied [R. 476].

The case proceeded to trial, with the bulk of the State's case being focused on the oral statements made by Mr. Kight to Detective Weeks and the jailhouse informants. Evidence of the McGoogin robbery was also admitted over objection [Tr. 2044-2046]. During trial, counsel for appellant attempted to cross-examine the State's witnesses concerning Mr. Kight's retardation and also attempted to introduce expert evidence to establish that it was more likely that Mr. Hutto planned and committed the murder than it was that Mr. Kight did [Tr. 1892, 2251-2255]. These efforts were thwarted by the trial court, which precluded any evidence of retardation from being heard by the jury during the penalty phase of the trial. During its close, the State stressed to the jury that counsel for Mr. Kight had promised to show that his client was retarded and that Mr. Hutto was the "ring-leader", but that counsel had failed to do so [Tr. 2379].

After the return of a verdict of guilt, the jury was dispersed prior to the sentencing hearing, with the instruction that they could discuss their deliberations with others if they so chose [Tr. 2468]. This instruction was objected to by appellant's counsel [Tr. 2469]. Some jurors chose to do so [Tr. 2503-2505]. Upon the conclusion of the sentencing hearing, the jury recommended the imposition of the death penalty and the trial court imposed a sentence of death [R. 636, 651, 679-683]. This appeal followed.

POINTS ON APPEAL

I.

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING THE APPELLANT'S MOTION TO SUPPRESS EVIDENCE DERIVED FROM THE UNLAWFUL STOP AND ARREST OF THE APPELLANT

II.

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING THE MOTION TO SUPPRESS THE ON SCENE IDENTIFICATION OF MR. KIGHT AT THE TIME OF HIS ARREST

III.

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ADMITTING AT TRIAL AN INCULPATORY STATEMENT OBTAINED FROM THE APPELLANT WHICH WAS NOT FREELY AND VOLUNTARILY GIVEN AND WHICH WAS OBTAINED IN VIOLATION OF HIS CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHTS

IV.

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ADMITTING EVIDENCE OBTAINED AS THE RESULT OF THE WARRANTLESS SEIZURE OF APPELLANT'S CLOTHING

v.

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN REFUSING TO EXCLUDE THE TESTIMONY OF THE STATE'S WITNESSES OBTAINED AS THE RESULT OF A CONFLICT OF INTEREST

VI.

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING APPELLANT'S MOTION TO DISMISS INDICTMENT BASED UPON DISCRIMINATION IN THE SELECTION OF GRAND JURY FOREPERSON

VII.

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED DURING JURY SELECTION IN ITS DISPOSITION OF CHALLENGES FOR CAUSE BASED ON EXPRESSED OPINIONS FOR AND AGAINST THE DEATH PENALTY

VIII.

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ADMITTING THE APPELLANT'S EXCULPATORY STATEMENT TO DETECTIVES WEEKS AND KESINGER

IX.

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ADMITTING WILLIAMS RULE EVIDENCE AND IN NOT LIMITING ITS CONSIDERATION

Χ.

THE TRIAL COURT IMPROPERLY RESTRICTED CROSS-EXAMINATION OF THE STATE'S WITNESSES

XI.

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN PROHIBITING APPELLANT FROM INTRODUCING EVIDENCE RELEVANT TO HIS THEORY OF DEFENSE THAT THE MURDER OF LAWRENCE BUTLER WAS THE INDEPENDENT ACT OF GARY HUTTO AND IN FAILING TO INSTRUCT THE JURY CONCERNING THIS THEORY

XII.

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN INSTRUCTING
THE JURY THAT THEY COULD DISCUSS
THEIR DELIBERATIONS WITH OTHERS PRIOR
TO THEIR SENTENCING DELIBERATIONS

XIII.

IMPROPER CLOSING ARGUMENT BY THE STATE RENDERED APPELLANT'S SENTENCE FUNDAMENTALLY UNFAIR

XIV.

THE TRIAL COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION WHEN IT REJECTED EVIDENCE OF MR. KIGHT'S MENTAL RETARDATION AND DEPRIVED CHILDHOOD AS CIRCUMSTANCES MITIGATING HIS CRIME

XV.

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN IMPOSING A SENTENCE OF DEATH IN THIS CASE

XVI.

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING APPELLANT'S MOTION FOR NEW TRIAL BASED UPON THE STATE'S FAILURE TO DISCLOSE CONCESSIONS MADE TO ITS WITNESSES IN EXCHANGE FOR THEIR TESTIMONY

XVII.

THE CUMULATIVE EFFECT OF THE ERRORS COMMITTED BELOW RENDERED MR. KIGHT'S TRIAL FUNDAMENTALLY UNFAIR

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

I.

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING THE APPELLANT'S MOTION TO SUPPRESS EVIDENCE DERIVED FROM THE UNLAWFUL STOP AND ARREST OF THE APPELLANT

There was no reasonable suspicion that Charles Kight had committed an illegal act at the time of his detention by Officer Scott Simmons of the Jacksonville Sheriff's Office on December 7, 1982. Because the initial investigatory stop of appellant and his subsequent detention was not grounded upon any articulable suspicion of criminal activity, it violated Mr. Kight's right to be free from an unreasonable seizure. All evidence obtained directly and indirectly from that evidence should have been excluded from Mr. Kight's trial. Failure to do so constituted reversible error.

II.

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING THE MOTION TO SUPPRESS THE ON SCENE IDENTIFICATION OF MR. KIGHT AT THE TIME OF HIS ARREST

The identification of Mr. Kight as the perpetrator of a robbery by Herman McGoogin at the scene of Mr. Kight's arrest was impermissibly suggestive and should have been excluded in the trial against Mr.. Kight. The State failed to establish any independent basis for the subsequent in-court identification of Mr. Kight by Mr. McGoogin and accordingly, that evidence likewise should have been excluded from trial. Failure to do so constituted reversible error.

III.

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ADMITTING AT TRIAL AN INCULPATORY STATEMENT OBTAINED FROM THE APPELLANT WHICH WAS NOT FREELY AND VOLUNTARILY GIVEN AND WHICH WAS OBTAINED IN VIOLATION OF HIS CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHTS

Statements made by Mr. Kight to Detective Weeks on December 7, 1982, wherein Mr. Kight admitted knowledge of the Butler murder were obtained in violation of Mr. Kight's constitutional rights because such statements were obtained after Mr. Kight had invoked his rights to be free from custodial interrogation and to consult with his attorney. In addition, due to the coercive circumstances surrounding those statements and the established mental deficiency of the appellant, they were not freely and voluntarily made by appellant. For these reasons, failure to suppress those statements was reversible error.

IV.

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ADMITTING EVIDENCE OBTAINED AS THE RESULT OF THE WARRANTLESS SEIZURE OF APPELLANT'S CLOTHING

After Mr. Kight had been arrested, Detective Weeks of the Jacksonville Sheriff's Office went to the Duval County Jail, where Mr. Kight was incarcerated and, without first obtaining a search warrant, seized the clothes which Mr. Kight was wearing. These clothes were subsequently analyzed to determine the existence of Lawrence Butler's blood on them and such evidence was used by the State to link Mr. Kight to the Butler murder. There was no exception to the warrant requirement by which to

justify the warrantless seizure. Evidence obtained from the seizure of this clothing should have been suppressed and the failure to do so was reversible error.

v.

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN REFUSING TO EXCLUDE THE TESTIMONY OF THE STATE'S WITNESSES OBTAINED AS THE RESULT OF A CONFLICT OF INTEREST

Mr. Kight was denied the effective assistance of counsel when the Office of the Public Defender was assigned to represent both Mr. Kight and Mr. Hutto, despite the fact that Mr. Hutto had made a statement blaming Mr. Kight for the McGoogin robbery. result of this clear conflict of interest was that Mr. Kight made incriminatory statements to law enforcement personnel. further result of this conflict was that the Public Defender's Office obtained information from other clients incarcerated in the Duval County Jail and utilized this information, to Mr. Kight's detriment, to obtain a negotiated plea of guilty to second degree murder on behalf of Mr. Hutto. As the result of this prejudicial conflict of interest, the statements made by Mr. Kight should have been suppressed. In addition, the testimony of the jailhouse informants, the whose identities were provided to the State by counsel for Mr. Hutto, should have been excluded at Mr. Kight's trial. Failure to do so was reversible error.

VI.

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING APPELLANT'S MOTION TO DISMISS INDICTMENT BASED UPON DISCRIMINATION IN THE SELECTION OF GRAND JURY FOREPERSON

Appellant clearly established historical discrimination, on the basis of sex and race, in the selection of the grand jury foreperson in the Fourth Circuit. Appellant also established that the role of the foreperson within the Fourth Circuit is of significant importance so that discrimination in the selection of the foreperson is violative the Due Process Clause of the United States Constitution. Since the State failed to rebut appellant's prima facie showing of discrimination in the selection of the grand jury foreperson, appellant's motion to dismiss the indictment on these grounds was reversible error.

VII.

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED DURING JURY SELECTION IN ITS DISPOSITION OF CHALLENGES FOR CAUSE BASED ON EXPRESSED OPINIONS FOR AND AGAINST THE DEATH PENALTY

The trial court erred by refusing to excuse for cause four jurors who expressed a commitment to imposing the death penalty in the event of conviction, to such an extent that their views would substantially impair their performances as jurors.

The trial court erred in granting prosecution challenges for cause of jurors who expressed their willingness to follow the applicable law despite their opposition to the death penalty.

The trial court erred in allowing challenges for cause, for opposition to the death penalty, to nine venirepersons, seven of whom were black, without a requested inquiry into the motives of the prosecutor.

VIII.

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ADMITTING THE APPELLANT'S EXCULPATORY STATEMENT TO DETECTIVES WEEKS AND KESINGER

Although the appellant did not testify at trial, and thus never placed his credibility in issue, the State was allowed to introduce an exculpatory statement by the appellant claiming Gary Hutto was guilty. The State then impermissibly impeached that statement, resulting in reversible error.

IX.

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ADMITTING WILLIAMS RULE EVIDENCE AND IN NOT LIMITING ITS CONSIDERATION

Evidence of Mr. Kight's participation in the McGoogin robbery was improperly admitted in the trial of Mr. Kight to prove the murder of Lawrence Butler. Such evidence was not probative of any of the issues present in Mr. Kight's murder trial and served only to prejudice the sympathies of the jurors against Mr. Kight. In addition, the instructions given by the trial court with regard to the jury's consideration of this issue did not properly limit the juror's consideration of such evidence. For this reason, appellant's conviction must be reversed.

THE TRIAL COURT IMPROPERLY RESTRICTED CROSS-EXAMINATION OF THE STATE'S WITNESSES

During appellant's trial, the court improperly restricted the ability of counsel for appellant to cross-examine the State's witnesses concerning certain matters testified to on direct examination. Specifically, the trial court prohibited counsel from cross-examining the State's witnesses about Mr. Kight's This fact was critical for the jury to make a fair retardation. assessment of the totality of the circumstances surrounding this statement. Additionally, since the State attacked the credibility of Mr. Kight's statement, and in fact sought to show it was fabricated, this evidence was relevant to show Mr. Kight was incapable of fabrication. The restriction upon counsel's cross-examination of Herman McGoogin also was improper, since it was relevant to the subject matter of Mr. McGoogin's direct examination and supported Mr. Kight's theory that Mr. Hutto was responsible for the death of Lawrence Butler.

XI.

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN PROHIBITING APPELLANT FROM INTRODUCING EVIDENCE RELEVANT TO HIS THEORY OF DEFENSE THAT THE MURDER OF LAWRENCE BUTLER WAS THE INDEPENDENT ACT OF GARY HUTTO AND IN FAILING TO INSTRUCT THE JURY CONCERNING THIS THEORY

Mr. Kight's theory of defense was that Gary Hutto, acting on his own, planned and executed the murder of Lawrence Butler. In support of this theory appellant sought to introduce evidence that he suffered from mental retardation, which prevented him from devising complex plans of action. Counsel for appellant specifically informed the trial court that he sought admission of this evidence, to establish Mr. Kight was merely present at the scene of the Butler murder. The refusal to permit this introduction of this evidence prevented the jury from considering the only reasonable theory of defense available to him. Exclusion of this evidence was thus, reversible error.

XII.

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED INSTRUCTING
THE JURY THAT THEY COULD DISCUSS
THEIR DELIBERATIONS WITH OTHERS PRIOR
TO THEIR SENTENCING DELIBERATIONS

Between the return of the jury's verdict finding appellant guilty of murder in the first degree and the sentencing phase of appellant's trial, the trial court dispersed the jury, after first instructing them that they were free to discuss their deliberations with other people. Having been authorized to discuss their deliberations prior to the sentencing hearing, the jurors did so. The jurors thereby were subject to outside influences, which tainted their sentencing deliberations in this cause. Due to this taint, appellant's case should be remanded to the trial court for resentencing before a jury untainted by outside influences.

XIII.

IMPROPER CLOSING ARGUMENT BY THE STATE RENDERED APPELLANT'S SENTENCE FUNDAMENTALLY UNFAIR

During the closing argument to the jury, at the sentencing phase of appellant's trial, the prosecutor made several comments calculated to appeal to the prejudice of the jury in rendering an

advisory sentence. These comments, and the failure of the trial court, upon proper motion, to properly instruct the jury regarding these comments, require reversal of the sentence.

XIV.

THE TRIAL COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION WHEN IT REJECTED EVIDENCE OF MR. KIGHT'S MENTAL RETARDATION AND DEPRIVED CHILDHOOD AS CIRCUMSTANCES MITIGATING HIS CRIME

The unrebutted evidence presented during the sentencing phase of appellant's trial did conclusively established that Mr. Kight is retarded. Other non-statutory circumstances were also established. In refusing to find any of these established circumstances as mitigating circumstances, the trial court abused its discretion. Appellant's cause should be remanded with the instruction that Mr. Kight be resentenced to life.

XV.

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN IMPOSING A SENTENCE OF DEATH IN THIS CASE

Death is not an appropriate sentence in this case. Mr.

Kight is a mentally retarded individual, who has suffered a

lifetime of deprivation and poverty. The facts and circumstances
do not support the imposition of death as punishment in this

case.

XVI.

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING APPELLANT'S MOTION FOR NEW TRIAL BASED UPON THE STATE'S FAILURE TO DISCLOSE CONCESSIONS MADE TO ITS WITNESSES IN EXCHANGE FOR THEIR TESTIMONY

The court below should have granted a new trial when the existence of deals between the State and four key witnesses, the existence of which were denied by the State in response to a specific request by the appellant, were discovered after trial and brought to the attention of the court. Failure to grant a new trial was reversible error.

XVII.

THE CUMULATIVE EFFECT OF THE ERRORS COMMITTED BELOW RENDERED MR. KIGHT'S TRIAL FUNDAMENTALLY UNFAIR

The cumulative effect of various errors in the appellant's trial combined to render that trial fundamentally unfair, in violation of the Fourteenth Amendment.

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING THE APPELLANT'S MOTION TO SUPPRESS EVIDENCE DERIVED FROM THE UNLAWFUL STOP AND ARREST OF THE APPELLANT

On December 7, 1982, between 8:30 and 9:00 P.M., a taxi driver named Herman McGoogin picked up two passengers at the Silver Dollar Bar on Main Street in Jacksonville, Florida, [Tr. 411]. Mr. McGoogin testified that the passengers were white males, one of whom directed him to Clark Road [Tr. 412]. Mr. McGoogin only glanced at the two when they entered the cab, [Tr. 416], and he was unable to see the face of the man who sat directly behind him, [Tr. 423, 483], the man he later identified as Charles Kight.

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