IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CHARLES M. KIGHT,

APPELLANT

vs.

**;**\*

APPEAL DOCKET NO. 65,749

STATE OF FLORIDA,

APPELLEE.

APR 17 1400 CLERK SUPHEME COURT By, APPEAL FOR THE CIRCUIT COURT DUVAL COUNTY, FLORIDA

AMENDED ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

> JIM SMITH ATTORNEY GENERAL

MARK C. MENSER ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32301 (904) 488-0600

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

Kight attempts to distinguish <u>Douglas</u> but neglects to mention that the reversal in question was <u>not</u> due to the use of an "exculpatory statement," but rather:

> "The State's case was based upon circumstantial evidence. The fact that the accused's own father apparently believed him guilty and accused him of the crime was a circumstance of such a highly prejudicial nature that under the circumstances the harmless error rule cannot be applied."

supra at 662.

Our case involves no such problem. The evidence was clearly admissible.

## ARGUMENT: POINT IX

# THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN ADMITTING WILLIAMS RULE EVIDENCE

Despite the record, Kight blithely asserts that the <u>Williams</u> rule evidence sub judice was introduced "solely to show bad character."

<u>Williams v. State</u>, 110 So.2d 654 (Fla. 1959) creates a rule for the admission, not exclusion, of evidence tending to show intent, plan, motive, modus operandi, lack of mistake, identity or common scheme. Kight "alleges" that the following evidence does not fit any of those categories but merely reflects "bad character".

Kight and Hutto, on consecutive nights, hailed two cabs, driven by black operators, from the same neighborhood, had themselves driven to the same neighborhood, robbed the cabbie at knifepoint and fled on foot.

Even the Appellant must admit that the McGoogin robbery was evidence of plan, identity, intent, modus operandi and a common plan or scheme. It was clearly admissible under Section 90.404, Florida Statutues.

Contradicting his "bad character only" claim, Kight also alleges that the court erred in letting the jury consider this evidence for any purpose beyond "identity," (for which defense counsel told the trial court it was relevant). If anything, the

- 52 -

trial court was too generous to the defense in not drawing greater parallels between these two carbon-copy crimes.

The Appellant has failed to allege or show how these virtually identical crimes (differing only in that McGoogin escaped) were so dissimilar that the full breadth of the Williams Rule would not apply.

## **ARGUMENT:** POINT X

# THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT LIMIT CROSS EXAMINATION IMPROPERLY

(A) Scope of Cross

The trial court announced at the outset that it would apply the rule that the scope of direct examination would serve as the scope of cross. Both the state and the defense agreed, and both sides raised objections to the others' cross examinations on these grounds.

Going far beyond the scope of the direct examination of Detective Weeks (the officer who fetched Kight's clothes), defense counsel tried, (without even bothering to lay a predicate) to elicit testimony from Weeks about Kight's alleged "mental problems," including his level of intelligence! Aside from hearsay, Weeks had no knowledge of Kight's IQ; and Weeks was not qualified by training, experience or even familiarity with Kight to render an opinion about his mentality.

While the State agrees that a full and fair cross examination is vital to a fair trial, <u>Davis v. Alaska</u>, 415 U.S. 308 (1974), no one would suggest that the scope of cross is unlimited. Indeed, even the Appellant's cited authority of <u>Alford v. United States</u>, 282 U.S. 687, 692 (1931), as quoted, refers only to a "reasonable" cross examination. In fact, Kight's federal citations, especially the older cases, must be

- 54 -

viewed with an eye to the fact that the federal system - being without discovery in criminal cases - depends much more heavily upon cross examination than Florida does. That is why <u>Alford</u> says "Counsel often cannot know in advance what pertinent facts may be elicited on cross-examination." <u>Id.</u> In Florida, counsel can (and had better) know.

The Appellant goes on to cite some Florida decisions regarding the scope of cross examination, implying that any question which can be described by a fertile, legal, mind as somehow "modifying, supplementing, contradicting or rebutting" direct testimony must be permitted.

In <u>Francis v. State</u>, 10 F.L.W. 329 (Fla. 1985), a death case, the state called a witness who herself was facing a murder charge. The defense wanted to cross examine her on the pending charge and imply that she had a "motive" for testifying even though there was no deal between the witness and the state. This cross examination was disallowed, and this Honorable Court upheld the limitation; citing the evidence code's prohibition against irrelevant evidence of collateral, unrelated charges.

In <u>Echols v. State</u>, 10 F.L.W. 526 (Fla. 1985), another death case, the defense wanted to cross examine an investigator by examining him on "things he could have done but did not." The inquiry was outside the scope of direct examination so, pursuant

- 55 -

to <u>Steinhorst v. State</u>, 412 So.2d 332 (Fla. 1982) the restriction was <u>upheld</u>.

In our case, the record shows that Weeks merely testified to escorting Kight to the property room, at which time Kight offered to speak. Defense counsel wanted to question Weeks, who is no doctor and did not know Kight, about Kight's alleged low IQ and mental problem! (Facts about which this witness was wholly unqualified to testify to.)

The State objected because the inquiry was outside the scope of direct <u>and</u> because no notice of any intent to rely upon an insanity defense had been filed. Defense counsel acquiesced on both points but insisted that he should have the right "anyway."

Whatever rebuttal evidence Kight may have wished to present on his side of the case, the fact remains that per <u>Echols</u>, Steinhorst and Francis he could not do it on cross.

# (B) Hearsay and Interpretation Thereof

Mr. Kight believes that his right to "cross examine" Mr. McGoogin on a collateral, unrelated, crime includes the right to (a) elicit hearsay testimony and (b) offer the witness' inexpert interpretation of that hearsay testimony. This position is untenable at best. Despite his reliance upon cases from the 1800's, Kight must be aware that over the course of this century Florida has developed an evidence code.

There can be no doubt that hearsay evidence is inadmissible. Kight claims that an "exception" should be carved out for him because the hearsay, plus a favorable interpretation thereof, could show his "lack of intent" in a different crime, which in turn could imply a lack of intent in this crime. Thus, intentional first degree murder could be attacked, leaving the state with only felony murder.

This highly attenuated piece of "logic" can be analogized to an attempt by the prosecution to use hearsay evidence in <u>Wells v.</u> <u>State</u>, 10 F.L.W. 2352 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1985). There, a hearsay statement by a witness to an officer was offered despite the rule (See sec. 90.802, Florida Statutes 1983) because "hearsay" could demonstrate the officer's "probable cause" to arrest. The use of hearsay to prove a mental state was resoundingly rejected. <u>See</u> <u>Postell v. State</u>, 398 So.2d 851 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1981); <u>Lane v.</u> <u>State</u>, 430 So.2d 989 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1980).

Clearly, there is no reason to find error in the court's rejection of cross examination regarding hearsay statements plus speculation as to what the statements meant - all relevant to "intent" in an unrelated crime, offered solely to imply "lack of intent" (by inference) in this crime.

- 57 -

#### **ARGUMENT:** POINT XI

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN LIMITING THE APPELLANT'S CASE

The Appellant never filed any notice of any intent to file an insanity defense. Fla.R.Cr.P. 3.216(b). The Appellant was examined by numerous experts before trial, who found him same at the time of the offense.

During trial, Kight attempted to ambush the state by producing evidence of "mental incapacity" due to "retardation" which was so severe that he could not form the "requisite intent" to commit a crime. In other words - a verbose statement of insanity.

Kight was allowed to proffer his testimony. At the outset, we should examine this proffer because upon doing so, we shall see that this entire point on appeal centers on evidence which, if admitted, would not have helped Kight anyway. (Indeed, this evidence was later admitted in the sentencing phase and the jury overwhelmingly recommended death.)

Dr. Krop, a psychologist, testified that Kight was generally passive and a "follower." (Tr 2230) He also testified that Kight was sane on the night of the murder. (Tr 2230) He knew just what he was doing (even if told to do it) and he knew right from wrong at the time. (Tr 2230) Interestingly, Kight was aware of the "insanity defense" and how to exploit it. (Tr 2233) Kight was

- 58 -

also capable of forseeing the consequences of his acts and of blaming someone else for them. (Tr 2238)

When this evidence is compared with that of the state's witnesses (regarding Kights' boast that he "killed a nigger" and would "get off on insanity") it is easy to see how incriminating Krop's testimony could have been.

As damaging as Krop's testimony was, Dr. Miller's was worse. Miller testified that there was <u>nothing</u> in Kight's "passive" nature that would preclude his taking the initiative or generating independent action! (Tr 2243, 2246) Miller agreed Kight was sane at the time of the murder.

This evidence indeed went to the "heart" of Kight's defense. It went like a dagger! It is suggested that Kight would challenge the effectiveness of any lawyer who succeeded in putting this evidence on during the guilt phase of his trial. (After conviction, the evidence was mitigating and was admitted.)

Retardation is not proof of insanity in Florida, as conceded in the Appellant's brief. Kight's "diminished capacity" defense was nonetheless an attempt to sneak an "insanity defense" in the back door, without notice. Its exclusion is directly attributable to the Appellant's non compliance with Fla.R.Cr.P. 3.216(b):

> "When in any criminal case it shall be the intention of the defendant to rely

> > - 59 -

upon defense of insanity, no evidence offered by the defendant for the purpose of establishing such defense shall be admitted in such case unless advance notice in writing of the defense shall have been given by the defendant as hereinafter provided."

In <u>Pope v. State</u>, 441 So.2d 1073 (Fla. 1983) this Court stated that no party to a cause may invite error and then be heard to complain about it on appeal. By not filing a notice, despite procuring psychiatric evaluations, the Appellant sent a clear signal that he was not going to rely upon an insanity defense. It must be considered "invited error," therefore, that Appellant was prohibited from adducing his "proof" of insanity at trial.

It is further noted that Section (f) of the rule provides a remedy in the event that a pretrial insanity-defense notice is not filed. A defendant may request a mistrial and leave to file such a notice. Again, this was not done. Thus, Appellant elected to let any "error" stand.

This case stands in stark contrast to <u>Morgan v. State</u>, 453 So.2d 394 (Fla. 1984). There, Morgan went to trial utilizing an insanity defense and lost, but won an appellate reversal. On retrial, Morgan orally represented that he would rely upon the same defense and filed written, pretrial proffers - but he neglected to actually file the notice. He was not allowed to call his witnesses and this Court again reversed. In doing to, this Court found that the State had <u>de facto</u> notice of his intentions, and that a mid-trial recess of over 30 days would have given the state time to defend had the evidence showed incompetence at the time of the offense (meaning that the jury need only accept or reject the evidence - an issue not relevant).

In our case no notice was filed or asserted orally. Kight's evidence, unlike Morgan's, established <u>competence</u>, <u>not incompe-</u> <u>tence</u>. No recess was requested. It is submitted that the mandatory language of the rule was not abolished by <u>Morgan</u>; and that the rule should be applied in this case.

Finally, in lieu of the fact that under <u>Zeigler v. State</u>, 402 So.2d 365 (Fla. 1981) and <u>Tremain v. State</u>, 336 So.2d 705 (Fla. 4th DCA 1976) the evidence could be inadmissible anyway; and in lieu of the fact that the proffered evidence in no way supported the stated purpose of presenting it, it is submitted that the Court committed no error (even if right for the wrong reason) or, if it erred, the error was harmless (especially when we recall that this evidence did come in during the sentencing phase and had no effect at all on the jury).

- 61 -

### ARGUMENT: POINT XII

# THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN INSTRUCTING THE JURY

The trial court advised the jury that it could talk or could refuse to talk to others regarding its guilt phase deliberations.

One unidentified juror said she saw Detective Kesinger after the trial, but after identifying herself as a juror said nothing to him. A second juror, Mr. Perry - did discuss the case with others. Perry was excused from the jury, over <u>defense</u> objections.

We must question the good faith of any appeal which cites as "error" an instruction that jurors can speak, but then shows a record objection to the removal of the only juror who did speak.

It is suggested that the defense may have objected to Perry's removal (note: on other grounds) just so a "tainted" juror would remain on the panel, thus enhancing the chances of success on appeal. (After all, Kight was already convicted). Nevertheless, the fact remains that no matter the Court's instruction that jurors "could" talk, the only "tainted" juror left the jury and the sentencing phase was conducted before a jury which was no different than the one which did not receive permission to speak.

Kight contends that he was entitled to a jury "free from distraction and improper influence" pursuant to Livingston v.

- 62 -

<u>State</u>, 458 So.2d 235 (Fla. 1984). If he was so concerned, why did he object of Perry's removal? Only two possible answers exist: (1) Kight was telling the truth when he protested to the Court that he wanted to continue with "the same jury" he started with - meaning either that this de novo claim is a lie, or (2) He, being already convicted, wanted to sandbag some error for use on appeal. <u>See Pope v. State</u>, <u>supra; Snook v. State</u>, 10 F.L.W. 2481 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1985); <u>United States v. Curry</u>, 471 F.2d 419 (5th Cir. 1973).

Livingston notes that when a jury is discharged during deliberations they need not be sequestered as long as they are examined on their return to be sure no outside influences prejudiced them. <u>See Diaz v. State</u>, 435 So.2d 911 (Fla. 4th DCA 1983). Although <u>Livingston</u> holds that jurors ought to be sequestered, in high publicity capital cases, during guilt phase deliberations, the suggestion does not abolish Fla.R.Cr.P. 3.370, nor is it of universal application.

<u>Livingston</u> is applied on a case by case basis, having no impact where the facts do not warrant relief. <u>See Frankling v.</u> State, 472 So.2d 1303 (Fla. 1st DCA 1985).

Livingston, we would note, was decided just seven months after <u>Oats v. State</u>, 446 So.2d 90 (Fla. 1984). There, Oats (a capital defendant) argued that the court failed to sequester his jury in the face of much adverse publicity. This Court, noting

- 63 -

that sequestration is not required in capital cases, <u>Ford v.</u> <u>State</u>, 374 So.2d 496 (Fla. 1979) <u>cert.den.</u> 445 U.S. 972 (1980), looked to the facts of the case and the nature of the publicity before making any determination of prejudice. Neither prejudice nor juror misconduct was presumed. Absent proof of prejudice, Oats conviction was affirmed.

Here we must emphasize one stark difference between <u>Livingston</u>, Ford, Oats, Diaz and our case: those decisions addressed <u>guilt phase</u> deliberations. Our case only involves nonbinding sentencing phase deliberations-thus further minimizing any "error."

Using the requisite case by case approach; and finding no actual juror misconduct, no defense demand to remove any juror, plus the fact that "trial was over" for the jury as far as any binding decision was concerned; if any error occurred, it was harmless.

#### ARGUMENT: POINT XIII

THE STATE DID NOT UTILIZE IMPROPER CLOSING ARGUMENT DURING THE SENTENCING PHASE

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